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the incident or condition and indicates
that it may have been a violation; or

(2) A ‘‘Letter of Correction’’ which
confirms the FAA decision in the mat-
ter and states the necessary corrective
action the alleged violator has taken
or agrees to take. If the agreed correc-
tive action is not fully completed, legal
enforcement action may be taken.

Subpart C—Legal Enforcement
Actions

§ 13.13 Consent orders.
(a) At any time before the issuance of

an order under this subpart, the official
who issued the notice and the person
subject to the notice may agree to dis-
pose of the case by the issuance of a
consent order by the official.

(b) A proposal for a consent order,
submitted to the official who issued
the notice, under this section must in-
clude—

(1) A proposed order;
(2) An admission of all jurisdictional

facts;
(3) An express waiver of the right to

further procedural steps and of all
rights to judicial review; and

(4) An incorporation by reference of
the notice and an acknowledgment
that the notice may be used to con-
strue the terms of the order.

(c) If the issuance of a consent order
has been agreed upon after the filing of
a request for hearing in accordance
with Subpart D of this part, the pro-
posal for a consent order shall include
a request to be filed with the Hearing
Officer withdrawing the request for a
hearing and requesting that the case be
dismissed.

§ 13.15 Civil penalties: Federal Avia-
tion Act of 1958, as amended, in-
volving an amount in controversy
in excess of $50,000; an in rem ac-
tion; seizure of aircraft; or injunc-
tive relief.

(a) The following penalties apply to
persons who violate the Federal Avia-
tion Act of l958, as amended:

(1) Any person who violates any pro-
vision of Title III, V, VI, or XII of the
Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as amend-
ed, or any rule, regulation, or order
issued thereunder, is subject to a civil
penalty of not more than the amount

specified in the Act for each violation
in accordance with section 901 of the
Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as amend-
ed (49 U.S.C. 1471, et seq.).

(2) Any person who violates section
404(d) of the Federal Aviation Act of
1958, as amended, or any rule, regula-
tion, or order issued thereunder, is sub-
ject to a civil penalty of not more than
the amount specified in the Act for
each violation in accordance with sec-
tion 404(d) or section 901 of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958, as amended (49
U.S.C. 1374, 1471, et seq.).

(3) Any person who operates aircraft
for the carriage of persons or property
for compensation or hire (other than
an airman serving in the capacity of an
airman) is subject to a civil penalty of
not more than $10,000 for each violation
of Title III, VI, or XII of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958, as amended, or
any rule, regulation, or order issued
thereunder, occurring after December
30, 1987, in accordance with section 901
of the Federal Aviation Act of l958, as
amended (49 U.S.C. 1471 et seq.).

(b) The authority of the Adminis-
trator, under section 901 of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958, as amended, to
propose a civil penalty for a violation
of that Act, or a rule, regulation, or
order issued thereunder, and the abil-
ity to refer cases to the United States
Attorney General, or the delegate of
the Attorney General, for prosecution
of civil penalty actions proposed by the
Administrator, involving an amount in
controversy in excess of $50,000, an in
rem action, seizure of aircraft subject
to lien, or suit for injunctive relief, or
for collection of an assessed civil pen-
alty, is delegated to the Chief Counsel,
the Assistant Chief Counsel, Enforce-
ment, the Assistant Chief Counsel,
Regulations, the Assistant Chief Coun-
sel, Europe, Africa, and Middle East
Area Office, the Regional Counsel, the
Aeronautical Center Counsel, and the
Technical Center Counsel.

(c) The Administrator may com-
promise any civil penalty, proposed in
accordance with section 901 of the Fed-
eral Aviation Act of 1958, as amended,
involving an amount in controversy in
excess of $50,000, an in rem action, sei-
zure of aircraft subject to lien, or suit
for injunctive relief, prior to referral of
the civil penalty action to the United
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States Attorney General, or the dele-
gate of the Attorney General, for pros-
ecution.

(1) The Administrator, through the
Chief Counsel, the Assistant Chief
Counsel, Enforcement, the Assistant
Chief Counsel, Regulations, the Assist-
ant Chief Counsel, Europe, Africa, and
Middle East Area Office, the Regional
Counsel, the Aeronautical Center
Counsel, and the Technical Center
Counsel sends a civil penalty letter to
the person charged with a violation of
the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as
amended, or a rule, regulation, or order
issued thereunder. The civil penalty
letter contains a statement of the
charges, the applicable law, rule, regu-
lation, or order, the amount of civil
penalty that the Administrator will ac-
cept in full settlement of the action or
an offer to compromise the civil pen-
alty.

(2) Not later than 30 days after re-
ceipt of the civil penalty letter, the
person charged with a violation may
present any material or information in
answer to the charges to the agency at-
torney, either orally or in writing, that
may explain, mitigate, or deny the vio-
lation or that may show extenuating
circumstances. The Administrator will
consider any material or information
submitted in accordance with this
paragraph to determine whether the
person is subject to a civil penalty or
to determine the amount for which the
Administrator will compromise the ac-
tion.

(3) If the person charged with the vio-
lation offers to compromise for a spe-
cific amount, that person shall send a
certified check or money order for that
amount, payable to the Federal Avia-
tion Administration, to the agency at-
torney. The Chief Counsel, the Assist-
ant Chief Counsel, Enforcement, the
Assistant Chief Counsel, Regulations,
the Assistant Chief Counsel, Europe,
Africa, and Middle East Area Office,
the Regional Counsel, the Aeronautical
Center Counsel, or the Technical Cen-
ter Counsel may accept the certified
check or money order or may refuse
and return the certified check or
money order.

(4) If the offer to compromise is ac-
cepted by the Administrator, the agen-
cy attorney will send a letter to the

person charged with the violation stat-
ing that the certified check or money
order is accepted in full settlement of
the civil penalty action.

(5) If the parties cannot agree to
compromise the civil penalty action or
the offer to compromise is rejected and
the certified check or money order sub-
mitted in compromise is returned, the
Administrator may refer the civil pen-
alty action to the United States Attor-
ney General, or the delegate of the At-
torney General, to begin proceedings in
a United States District Court, pursu-
ant to the authority in section 903 of
the Federal Aviation Act, as amended
(49 U.S.C. 1473), to prosecute and col-
lect the civil penalty.

[Amdt. 13–18, 53 FR 34653, Sept. 7, 1988, as
amended by Amdt. 13–20, 55 FR 15128, Apr. 20,
1990; Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46865, Sept. 4, 1997]

§ 13.16 Civil penalties: Federal Avia-
tion Act of 1958, involving an
amount in controversy not exceed-
ing $50,000; Hazardous Materials
Transportation Act.

(a) General. The following penalties
apply to persons who violate the Fed-
eral Aviation Act of 1958, as amended,
and the Hazardous Materials Transpor-
tation Act:

(1) Any person who violates any pro-
vision of title III, V, VI, or XII of the
Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as amend-
ed, or any rule, regulation, or order
issued thereunder, is subject to a civil
penalty of not more than the amount
specified in the Act for each violation
in accordance with section 901 of the
Federal Aviation Act, of 1958, as
amended (49 U.S.C. 1471, et seq.).

(2) Any person who violates section
404(d) of the Federal Aviation Act of
1958, as amended, or any rule, regula-
tion, or order issued thereunder, is sub-
ject to a civil penalty of not more than
the amount specified in the Act for
each violation in accordance with sec-
tion 404(d) or section 901 of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958, as amended (49
U.S.C. 1374, 1471, et seq.).

(3) Any person who operates aircraft
for the carriage of persons or property
for compensation or hire (other than
an airman serving in the capacity of an
airman) is subject to a civil penalty of
not more than $10,000 for each violation
of title III, VI, or XII of the Federal
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Aviation Act of 1958, as amended, or
any rule, regulation, or order issued
thereunder, occurring after December
30, 1987, in accordance with section 901
of the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as
amended (49 U.S.C. 1471, et seq.).

(4) Any person who knowingly com-
mits an act in violation of the Hazard-
ous Materials Transportation Act, or
any rule, regulation, or order issued
thereunder, is subject to a civil penalty
of not more than $10,000 for each viola-
tion in accordance with section 901 of
the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as
amended, and section 110 of the Hazard-
ous Materials Transportation Act (49
U.S.C. 1471 and 1809, et seq.). An order
assessing civil penalty for a violation
under the Hazardous Materials Trans-
portation Act, or a rule, regulation, or
order issued thereunder, will be issued
only after consideration of—

(i) The nature and circumstances of
the violation;

(ii) The extent and gravity of the vio-
lation;

(iii) The person’s degree of culpabil-
ity;

(iv) The person’s history of prior vio-
lations;

(v) The person’s ability to pay the
civil penalty;

(vi) The effect on the person’s ability
to continue in business; and

(vii) Such other matters as justice
may require.

(b) Order assessing civil penalty. An
order assessing civil penalty may be
issued for a violation described in para-
graph (a) of this section, or as other-
wise provided by statute, after notice
and opportunity for a hearing. A per-
son charged with a violation may be
subject to an order assessing civil pen-
alty in the following circumstances:

(1) An order assessing civil penalty
may be issued if a person charged with
a violation submits or agrees to submit
a civil penalty for a violation.

(2) An order assessing civil penalty
may be issued if a person charged with
a violation does not request a hearing
under paragraph (e)(2)(ii) of this sec-
tion within 15 days after receipt of a
final notice of proposed civil penalty.

(3) Unless an appeal is filed with the
FAA decisionmaker in a timely man-
ner, an initial decision or order of an
administrative law judge shall be con-

sidered an order assessing civil penalty
if an administrative law judge finds
that an alleged violation occurred and
determines that a civil penalty, in an
amount found appropriate by the ad-
ministrative law judge, is warranted.

(4) Unless a petition for review is
filed with a U.S. Court of Appeals in a
timely manner, a final decision and
order of the Administrator shall be
considered an order assessing civil pen-
alty if the FAA decisionmaker finds
that an alleged violation occurred and
a civil penalty is warranted.

(c) Delegation of authority. The au-
thority of the Administrator, under
section 901 and section 905 of the Fed-
eral Aviation Act of 1958, as amended,
and section 110 of the Hazardous Mate-
rials Transportation Act, to initiate
and assess civil penalties for a viola-
tion of those Acts, or a rule, regula-
tion, or order issued thereunder, is del-
egated to the Deputy Chief Counsel,
the Assistant Chief Counsel, Enforce-
ment, the Assistant Chief Counsel,
Regulations, the Assistant Chief Coun-
sel, Europe, Africa, and Middle East
Area Office, each Regional Counsel, the
Aeronautical Center Counsel, and the
Technical Center Counsel. The author-
ity of the Administrator to refer cases
to the Attorney General of the United
States, or the delegate of the Attorney
General, for the collection of civil pen-
alties, is delegated to the Chief Coun-
sel, the Deputy Chief Counsel, the As-
sistant Chief Counsel, Enforcement,
the Assistant Chief Counsel, Regula-
tions, the Assistant Chief Counsel, Eu-
rope, Africa, and Middle East Area Of-
fice, each Regional Counsel, the Aero-
nautical Center Counsel, and the Tech-
nical Center Counsel.

(d) Notice of proposed civil penalty. A
civil penalty action is initiated by
sending a notice of proposed civil pen-
alty to the person charged with a viola-
tion of the Federal Aviation Act of
1958, as amended, the Hazardous Mate-
rials Transportation Act, or a rule, reg-
ulation, or order issued thereunder. A
notice of proposed civil penalty will be
sent to the individual charged with a
violation or to the president of the cor-
poration or company charged with a
violation. In response to a notice of
proposed civil penalty, a corporation or
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company may designate in writing an-
other person to receive documents in
that civil penalty action. The notice of
proposed civil penalty contains a state-
ment of the charges and the amount of
the proposed civil penalty. Not later
than 30 days after receipt of the notice
of proposed civil penalty, the person
charged with a violation shall—

(1) Submit the amount of the pro-
posed civil penalty or an agreed-upon
amount, in which case either an order
assessing civil penalty or compromise
order shall be issued in that amount;

(2) Submit to the agency attorney
one of the following:

(i) Written information, including
documents and witness statements,
demonstrating that a violation of the
regulations did not occur or that a pen-
alty or the amount of the penalty is
not warranted by the circumstances.

(ii) A written request to reduce the
proposed civil penalty, the amount of
reduction, and the reasons and any
documents supporting a reduction of
the proposed civil penalty, including
records indicating a financial inability
to pay or records showing that pay-
ment of the proposed civil penalty
would prevent the person from continu-
ing in business.

(iii) A written request for an infor-
mal conference to discuss the matter
with the agency attorney and to sub-
mit relevant information or docu-
ments; or

(3) Request a hearing in which case a
complaint shall be filed with the hear-
ing docket clerk.

(e) Final notice of proposed civil pen-
alty. A final notice of proposed civil
penalty may be issued after participa-
tion in informal procedures provided in
paragraph (d)(2) of this section or fail-
ure to respond in a time1y manner to a
notice of proposed civil penalty. A final
notice of proposed civil penalty will be
sent to the individual charged with a
violation, to the president of the cor-
poration or company charged with a
violation, or a person previously des-
ignated in writing by the individual,
corporation, or company to receive
documents in that civil penalty action.
If not previously done in response to a
notice of proposed civil penalty, a cor-
poration or company may designate in
writing another person to receive docu-

ments in that civil penalty action. The
final notice of proposed civil penalty
contains a statement of the charges
and the amount of the proposed civil
penalty and, as a result of information
submitted to the agency attorney dur-
ing informal procedures, may modify
an allegation or a proposed civil pen-
alty contained in a notice of proposed
civil penalty.

(1) A final notice of proposed civil
penalty may be issued—

(i) If the person charged with a viola-
tion fails to respond to the notice of
proposed civil penalty within 30 days
after receipt of that notice; or

(ii) If the parties participated in any
informal procedures under paragraph
(d)(2) of this section and the parties
have not agreed to compromise the ac-
tion or the agency attorney has not
agreed to withdraw the notice of pro-
posed civil penalty.

(2) Not later than 15 days after re-
ceipt of the final notice of proposed
civil penalty, the person charged with
a violation shall do one of the follow-
ing—

(i) Submit the amount of the pro-
posed civil penalty or an agreed-upon
amount, in which case either an order
assessing civil penalty or a com-
promise order shall be issued in that
amount; or

(ii) Request a hearing in which case a
complaint shall be filed with the hear-
ing docket clerk.

(f) Request for a hearing. Any person
charged with a violation may request a
hearing, pursuant to paragraph (d)(3)
or paragraph (e)(2)(ii) of this section,
to be conducted in accordance with the
procedures in subpart G of this part. A
person requesting a hearing shall file a
written request for a hearing with the
hearing docket clerk (Hearing Docket,
Federal Aviation Administration, 800
Independence Avenue, SW., Room 924A,
Washington, DC 20591, Attention: Hear-
ing Docket Clerk) and shall mail a
copy of the request to the agency at-
torney. The request for a hearing may
be in the form of a letter but must be
dated and signed by the person request-
ing a hearing. The request for a hear-
ing may be typewritten or may be leg-
ibly handwritten.

(g) Hearing. If the person charged
with a violation requests a hearing
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pursuant to paragraph (d)(3) or para-
graph (e)(2)(ii) of this section, the
original complaint shall be filed with
the hearing docket clerk and a copy
shall be sent to the person requesting
the hearing. The procedural rules in
subpart G of this part apply to the
hearing and any appeal. At the close of
the hearing, the administrative law
judge shall issue, either orally on the
record or in writing, an initial deci-
sion, including the reasons for the deci-
sion, that contains findings or conclu-
sions on the allegations contained, and
the civil penalty sought, in the com-
plaint.

(h) Appeal. Either party may appeal
the administrative law judge’s initial
decision to the FAA decisionmaker
pursuant to the procedures in subpart
G of this part. If a party files a notice
of appeal pursuant to § 13.233 of subpart
G, the effectiveness of the initial deci-
sion is stayed until a final decision and
order of the Administrator have been
entered on the record. The FAA deci-
sionmaker shall review the record and
issue a final decision and order of the
Administrator that affirm, modify, or
reverse the initial decision. The FAA
decisionmaker may assess a civil pen-
alty but shall not assess a civil penalty
in an amount greater than that sought
in the complaint.

(i) Payment. A person shall pay a civil
penalty by sending a certified check or
money order, payable to the Federal
Aviation Administration, to the agen-
cy attorney.

(j) Collection of civil penalties. If a per-
son does not pay a civil penalty im-
posed by an order assessing civil pen-
alty or a compromise order within 60
days after service of the order, the Ad-
ministrator may refer the order to the
United States Attorney General, or the
delegate of the Attorney General, to
begin proceedings to collect the civil
penalty. The action shall be brought in
a United States District Court, pursu-
ant to the authority in section 903 of
the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as
amended (49 U.S.C. 1473), or section 110
of the Hazardous Materials Transpor-
tation Act (49 U.S.C. 1809).

(k) Exhaustion of administrative rem-
edies. A party may only petition for re-
view of a final decision and order of the
Administrator to the courts of appeals

of the United States or the United
States Court of Appeals for the District
of Columbia pursuant to section 1006 of
the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as
amended. Neither an initial decision or
order issued by an administrative law
judge, that has not been appealed to
the FAA decisionmaker, nor an order
compromising a civil penalty action
constitutes a final order of the Admin-
istrator for the purposes of judicial ap-
pellate review under section 1006 of the
Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as amend-
ed.

(l) Compromise. The FAA may com-
promise any civil penalty action initi-
ated in accordance with section 901 and
section 905 of the Federal Aviation Act
of 1958, as amended, involving an
amount in controversy not exceeding
$50,000, or any civil penalty action ini-
tiated in accordance with section 901 of
the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as
amended, and section 110 of the Hazard-
ous Materials Transportation Act, at
any time before referring the action to
the United States Attorney for collec-
tion.

(1) An agency attorney may com-
promise any civil penalty action where
a person charged with a violation
agrees to pay a civil penalty and the
FAA agrees to make no finding of vio-
lation. Pursuant to such agreement, a
compromise order shall be issued, stat-
ing:

(i) The person agrees to pay a civil
penalty.

(ii) The FAA makes no finding of a
violation.

(iii) The compromise order shall not
be used as evidence of a prior violation
in any subsequent civil penalty pro-
ceeding or certificate action proceed-
ing.

(2) An agency attorney may com-
promise the amount of any civil pen-
alty proposed in a notice, assessed in
an order, or imposed in a compromise
order.

[Amdt. 13–21, 55 FR 27574, July 3, 1990; 55 FR
29293, July 18, 1990; 55 FR 31027, July 30, 1990;
Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46865, Sept. 4, 1997]

§ 13.17 Seizure of aircraft.

(a) Under section 903 of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958 (49 U.S.C. 1473), a
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State or Federal law enforcement offi-
cer, or a Federal Aviation Administra-
tion safety inspector, authorized in an
order of seizure issued by the Regional
Administrator of the region, or by the
Chief Counsel, may summarily seize an
aircraft that is involved in a violation
for which a civil penalty may be im-
posed on its owner or operator.

(b) Each person seizing an aircraft
under this section shall place it in the
nearest available and adequate public
storage facility in the judicial district
in which it was seized.

(c) The Regional Administrator or
Chief Counsel, without delay, sends a
written notice and a copy of this sec-
tion, to the registered owner of the
seized aircraft, and to each other per-
sons shown by FAA records to have an
interest in it, stating the—

(1) Time, date, and place of seizure;
(2) Name and address of the custodian

of the aircraft;
(3) Reasons for the seizure, including

the violations believed, or judicially
determined, to have been committed;
and

(4) Amount that may be tendered
as—

(i) A compromise of a civil penalty
for the alleged violation; or

(ii) Payment for a civil penalty im-
posed by a Federal court for a proven
violation.

(d) The Chief Counsel, or the Re-
gional Counsel or Assistant Chief
Counsel for the region or area in which
an aircraft is seized under this section,
immediately sends a report to the
United States District Attorney for the
judicial district in which it was seized,
requesting the District Attorney to in-
stitute proceedings to enforce a lien
against the aircraft.

(e) The Regional Administrator or
Chief Counsel directs the release of a
seized aircraft whenever—

(1) The alleged violator pays a civil
penalty or an amount agreed upon in
compromise, and the costs of seizing,
storing, and maintaining the aircraft;

(2) The aircraft is seized under an
order of a Federal Court in proceedings
in rem to enforce a lien against the air-
craft, or the United States District At-
torney for the judicial district con-
cerned notifies the FAA that the Dis-

trict Attorney refuses to institute
those proceedings; or

(3) A bond in the amount and with
the sureties prescribed by the Chief
Counsel, the Regional Counsel, or the
Assistant Chief Counsel is deposited,
conditioned on payment of the penalty,
or the compromise amount, and the
costs of seizing, storing, and maintain-
ing the aircraft.

[Doc. No. 18884, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979, as
amended by Amdt. 13–19, 54 FR 39290, Sept.
25, 1989; Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46865, Sept. 4,
1997]

§ 13.19 Certificate action.

(a) Under section 609 of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958 (49 U.S.C. 1429), the
Administrator may reinspect any civil
aircraft, aircraft engine, propeller, ap-
pliance, air navigation facility, or air
agency, and may re-examine any civil
airman. Under section 501(e) of the FA
Act, any Certificate of Aircraft Reg-
istration may be suspended or revoked
by the Administrator for any cause
that renders the aircraft ineligible for
registration.

(b) If, as a result of such a reinspec-
tion re-examination, or other inves-
tigation made by the Administrator
under section 609 of the FA Act, the
Administrator determines that the
public interest and safety in air com-
merce requires it, the Administrator
may issue an order amending, suspend-
ing, or revoking, all or part of any type
certificate, production certificate, air-
worthiness certificate, airman certifi-
cate, air carrier operating certificate,
air navigation facility certificate, or
air agency certificate. This authority
may be exercised for remedial purposes
in cases involving the Hazardous Mate-
rials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. 1801
et seq.) or regulations issued under
that Act. This authority is also exer-
cised by the Chief Counsel, the Assist-
ant Chief Counsel, Enforcement, the
Assistant Chief Counsel, Regulations,
the Assistant Chief Counsel, Europe,
Africa, and Middle East Area Office,
each Regional Counsel, and the Aero-
nautical Center Counsel. If the Admin-
istrator finds that any aircraft reg-
istered under Part 47 of this chapter is
ineligible for registration or if the
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holder of a Certificate of Aircraft Reg-
istration has refused or failed to sub-
mit AC Form 8050–73, as required by
§ 47.51 of this chapter, the Adminis-
trator issues an order suspending or re-
voking that certificate. This authority
as to aircraft found ineligible for reg-
istration is also exercised by each Re-
gional Counsel, the Aeronautical Cen-
ter Counsel, and the Assistant Chief
Counsel, Europe, Africa, and Middle
East Area Office.

(c) Before issuing an order under
paragraph (b) of this section, the Chief
Counsel, the Assistant Chief Counsel,
Enforcement, the Assistant Chief
Counsel, Regulations, the Assistant
Chief Counsel, Europe, Africa, and Mid-
dle East Area Office, each Regional
Counsel, or the Aeronautical Center
Counsel advises the certificate holder
of the charges or other reasons upon
which the Administrator bases the pro-
posed action and, except in an emer-
gency, allows the holder to answer any
charges and to be heard as to why the
certificate should not be amended, sus-
pended, or revoked. The holder may, by
checking the appropriate box on the
form that is sent to the holder with the
notice of proposed certificate action,
elect to—

(1) Admit the charges and surrender
his or her certificate;

(2) Answer the charges in writing;
(3) Request that an order be issued in

accordance with the notice of proposed
certificate action so that the certifi-
cate holder may appeal to the National
Transportation Safety Board, if the
charges concerning a matter under
Title VI of the FA Act;

(4) Request an opportunity to be
heard in an informal conference with
the FAA counsel; or

(5) Request a hearing in accordance
with Subpart D of this part if the
charges concern a matter under Title V
of the FA Act.
Except as provided in § 13.35(b), unless
the certificate holder returns the form
and, where required, an answer or mo-
tion, with a postmark of not later than
15 days after the date of receipt of the
notice, the order of the Administrator
is issued as proposed. If the certificate
holder has requested an informal con-
ference with the FAA counsel and the
charges concern a matter under Title V

of the FA Act, the holder may after
that conference also request a formal
hearing in writing with a postmark of
not later than 10 days after the close of
the conference. After considering any
information submitted by the certifi-
cate holder, the Chief Counsel, the As-
sistant Chief Counsel for Regulations
and Enforcement, the Regional Counsel
concerned, or the Aeronautical Center
Counsel (as to matters under Title V of
the FA Act) issues the order of the Ad-
ministrator, except that if the holder
has made a valid request for a formal
hearing on a matter under Title V of
the FA Act initially or after an infor-
mal conference, Subpart D of this part
governs further proceedings.

(d) Any person whose certificate is
affected by an order issued under this
section may appeal to the National
Transportation Safety Board. If the
certificate holder files an appeal with
the Board, the Administrator’s order is
stayed unless the Administrator ad-
vises the Board that an emergency ex-
ists and safety in air commerce re-
quires that the order become effective
immediately. If the Board is so advised,
the order remains effective and the
Board shall finally dispose of the ap-
peal within 60 days after the date of
the advice. This paragraph does not
apply to any person whose Certificate
of Aircraft Registration is affected by
an order issued under this section.

[Doc. No. 13–14, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979, as
amended by Amdt. 13–15, 45 FR 20773, Mar. 31,
1980; Amdt. 13–19, 54 FR 39290, Sept. 25, 1989;
Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46865, Sept. 4, 1997]

§ 13.20 Orders of compliance, cease
and desist orders, orders of denial,
and other orders.

(a) This section applies to orders of
compliance, cease and desist orders, or-
ders of denial, and other orders issued
by the Administrator to carry out the
provisions of the Federal Aviation Act
of 1958, as amended, the Hazardous Ma-
terials Transportation Act, the Airport
and Airway Development Act of 1970,
and the Airport and Airway Improve-
ment Act of 1982, or the Airport and
Airway Improvement Act of 1982 as
amended by the Airport and Airway
Safety and Capacity Expansion Act of
1987. This section does not apply to or-
ders issued pursuant to section 602 or
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section 609 of the Federal Aviation Act
of 1958, as amended.

(b) Unless the Administrator deter-
mines that an emergency exists and
safety in air commerce requires the
immediate issuance of an order under
this section, the person subject to the
order shall be provided with notice
prior to issuance.

(c) Within 30 days after service of the
notice, the person subject to the order
may reply in writing or request a hear-
ing in accordance with Subpart D of
this part.

(d) If a reply is filed, as to any
charges not dismissed or not subject to
a consent order, the person subject to
the order may, within 10 days after re-
ceipt of notice that the remaining
charges are not dismissed, request a
hearing in accordance with Subpart D
of this part.

(e) Failure to request a hearing with-
in the period provided in paragraphs (c)
or (d) of this section—

(1) Constitutes a waiver of the right
to appeal and the right to a hearing,
and

(2) Authorizes the official who issued
the notice to find the facts to be as al-
leged in the notice, or as modified as
the official may determine necessary
based on any written response, and to
issue an appropriate order, without fur-
ther notice or proceedings.

(f) If a hearing is requested in accord-
ance with paragraph (c) or (d) of this
section, the procedure of Subpart D of
this part applies. At the close of the
hearing, the Hearing Officer, on the
record or subsequently in writing, shall
set forth findings and conclusions and
the reasons therefor, and either—

(1) Dismiss the notice; or
(2) Issue an order.
(g) Any party to the hearing may ap-

peal from the order of the Hearing Offi-
cer by filing a notice of appeal with the
Administrator within 20 days after the
date of issuance of the order.

(h) If a notice of appeal is not filed
from the order issued by a Hearing Of-
ficer, such order is the final agency
order.

(i) Any person filing an appeal au-
thorized by paragraph (g) of this sec-
tion shall file an appeal brief with the
Administrator within 40 days after the
date of issuance of the order, and serve

a copy on the other party. A reply brief
must be filed within 20 days after serv-
ice of the appeal brief and a copy
served on the appellant.

(j) On appeal the Administrator re-
views the available record of the pro-
ceeding, and issues an order dismissing,
reversing, modifying or affirming the
order. The Administrator’s order in-
cludes the reasons for the Administra-
tor’s action.

(k) For good cause shown, requests
for extensions of time to file any docu-
ment under this section may be grant-
ed by—

(1) The official who issued the order,
if the request is filed prior to the des-
ignation of a Hearing Officer; or

(2) The Hearing Officer, if the request
is filed prior to the filing of a notice of
appeal; or

(3) The Administrator, if the request
is filed after the filing of a notice of ap-
peal.

(l) Except in the case of an appeal
from the decision of a Hearing Officer,
the authority of the Administrator
under this section is also exercised by
the Chief Counsel, Deputy Chief Coun-
sel, each Assistant Chief Counsel, each
Regional Counsel, and the Aeronauti-
cal Center Counsel (as to matters
under Title V of the Federal Aviation
Act of 1958).

(m) Filing and service of documents
under this section shall be accom-
plished in accordance with § 13.43; and
the periods of time specified in this
section shall be computed in accord-
ance with § 13.44.

[Doc. No. 18884, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979, as
amended by Amdt. 13–17, 53 FR 33783, Aug. 31,
1988; Amdt. 13–19, 54 FR 39290, Sept. 25, 1989;
Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46865, Sept. 4, 1997]

§ 13.21 Military personnel.
If a report made under this part indi-

cates that, while performing official
duties, a member of the Armed Forces,
or a civilian employee of the Depart-
ment of Defense who is subject to the
Uniform Code of Military Justice (10
U.S.C. Ch. 47), has violated the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958, or a regulation or
order issued under it, the Chief Coun-
sel, the Assistant Chief Counsel, En-
forcement, the Assistant Chief Counsel,
Regulations, the Assistant Chief Coun-
sel, Europe, Africa, and Middle East
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Area Office, each Regional Counsel,
and the Aeronautical Center Counsel
send a copy of the report to the appro-
priate military authority for such dis-
ciplinary action as that authority con-
siders appropriate and a report to the
Administrator thereon.

[Doc. No. 18884, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979, as
amended by Amdt. 13–19, 54 FR 39290, Sept.
25, 1989; Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46866, Sept. 4,
1997]

§ 13.23 Criminal penalties.

(a) Sections 902 and 1203 of the Fed-
eral Aviation Act of 1958 (49 U.S.C. 1472
and 1523), provide criminal penalties
for any person who knowingly and will-
fully violates specified provisions of
that Act, or any regulation or order
issued under those provisions. Section
110(b) of the Hazardous Materials
Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. 1809(b))
provides for a criminal penalty of a
fine of not more than $25,000, imprison-
ment for not more than five years, or
both, for any person who willfully vio-
lates a provision of that Act or a regu-
lation or order issued under it.

(b) If an inspector or other employee
of the FAA becomes aware of a possible
violation of any criminal provision of
the Federal Aviation Act of 1958 (ex-
cept a violation of section 902 (i)
through (m) which is reported directly
to the Federal Bureau of Investiga-
tion), or of the Hazardous Materials
Transportation Act, relating to the
transportation or shipment by air of
hazardous materials, he or she shall re-
port it to the Office of the Chief Coun-
sel or the Regional Counsel or Assist-
ant Chief Counsel for the region or area
concerned. If appropriate, that office
refers the report to the Department of
Justice for criminal prosecution of the
offender. If such an inspector or other
employee becomes aware of a possible
violation of a Federal statute that is
within the investigatory jurisdiction of
another Federal agency, he or she shall
immediately report it to that agency
according to standard FAA practices.

[Doc. No. 18884, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979, as
amended by Amdt. 13–19, 54 FR 39290, Sept.
25, 1989; Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46866, Sept. 4,
1997]

§ 13.25 Injunctions.
(a) Whenever it is determined that a

person has engaged, or is about to en-
gage, in any act or practice constitut-
ing a violation of the Federal Aviation
Act of 1958, or any regulation or order
issued under it for which the FAA exer-
cises enforcement responsibility, or,
with respect to the transportation or
shipment by air of any hazardous ma-
terials, in any act or practice con-
stituting a violation of the Hazardous
Materials Transportation Act, or any
regulation or order issued under it for
which the FAA exercises enforcement
responsibility, the Chief Counsel, the
Assistant Chief Counsel, Enforcement,
the Assistant Chief Counsel, Regula-
tions, the Assistant Chief Counsel, Eu-
rope, Africa, and Middle East Area Of-
fice, each Regional Counsel, and the
Aeronautical Center Counsel may re-
quest the United States Attorney Gen-
eral, or the delegate of the Attorney
General, to bring an action in the ap-
propriate United States District Court
for such relief as is necessary or appro-
priate, including mandatory or prohibi-
tive injunctive relief, interim equitable
relief, and punitive damages, as pro-
vided by section 1007 of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958 (49 U.S.C. 1487) and
section 111(a) of the Hazardous Mate-
rials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C.
1810).

(b) Whenever it is determined that
there is substantial likelihood that
death, serious illness, or severe per-
sonal injury, will result from the trans-
portation by air of a particular hazard-
ous material before an order of compli-
ance proceeding, or other administra-
tive hearing or formal proceeding to
abate the risk of the harm can be com-
pleted, the Chief Counsel, the Assistant
Chief Counsel, Enforcement, the As-
sistant Chief Counsel, Regulations, the
Assistant Chief Counsel, Europe, Afri-
ca, and Middle East Area Office, each
Regional Counsel, and the Aeronauti-
cal Center Counsel may bring, or re-
quest the United States Attorney Gen-
eral to bring, an action in the appro-
priate United States District Court for
an order suspending or restricting the
transportation by air of the hazardous
material or for such other order as is
necessary to eliminate or ameliorate
the imminent hazard, as provided by
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section 111(b) of the Hazardous Mate-
rials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C.
1810).

[Doc. No. 18884, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979, as
amended by Amdt. 13–19, 54 FR 39290, Sept.
25, 1989; Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46866, Sept. 4,
1997]

§ 13.27 Final order of Hearing Officer
in certificate of aircraft registration
proceedings.

(a) If, in proceedings under section
501(b) of the Federal Aviation Act of
1958 (49 USC 1401), the Hearing Officer
determines that the holder of the Cer-
tificate of Aircraft Registration has re-
fused or failed to submit AC Form 8050–
73, as required by § 47.51 of this chapter,
or that the aircraft is ineligible for a
Certificate of Aircraft Registration,
the Hearing Officer shall suspend or re-
voke the respondent’s certificate, as
proposed in the notice of proposed cer-
tificate action.

(b) If the final order of the Hearing
Officer makes a decision on the merits,
it shall contain a statement of the
findings and conclusions of law on all
material issues of fact and law. If the
Hearing Officer finds that the allega-
tions of the notice have been proven,
but that no sanction is required, the
Hearing Officer shall make appropriate
findings and issue an order terminating
the notice. If the Hearing Officer finds
that the allegations of the notice have
not been proven, the Hearing Officer
shall issue an order dismissing the no-
tice. If the Hearing Officer finds it to
be equitable and in the public interest,
the Hearing Officer shall issue an order
terminating the proceeding upon pay-
ment by the respondent of a civil pen-
alty in an amount agreed upon by the
parties.

(c) If the order is issued in writing, it
shall be served upon the parties.

[Doc. No. 13–14, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979; as
amended by Amdt. 13–15, 45 FR 20773, Mar. 31,
1980]

§ 13.29 Civil penalties: Streamlined en-
forcement procedures for certain
security violations.

This section may be used, at the
agency’s discretion, in enforcement ac-
tions involving individuals presenting
dangerous or deadly weapons for
screening at airports or in checked

baggage where the amount of the pro-
posed civil penalty is less than $5,000.
In these cases, sections 13.16(a),
13.16(c), and 13.16 (f) through (l) of this
chapter are used, as well as paragraphs
(a) through (d) of this section:

(a) Delegation of authority. The au-
thority of the Administrator, under 49
U.S.C. 46301, to initiate the assessment
of civil penalties for a violation of 49
U.S.C. Subtitle VII, or a rule, regula-
tion, or order issued thereunder, is del-
egated to the regional Civil Aviation
Security Division Manager and the re-
gional Civil Aviation Security Deputy
Division Manager for the purpose of
issuing notices of violation in cases in-
volving violations of 49 U.S.C. Subtitle
VII and the FAA’s regulations by indi-
viduals presenting dangerous or deadly
weapons for screening at airport check-
points or in checked baggage. This au-
thority may not be delegated below the
level of the regional Civil Aviation Se-
curity Deputy Division Manager.

(b) Notice of violation. A civil penalty
action is initiated by sending a notice
of violation to the person charged with
the violation. The notice of violation
contains a statement of the charges
and the amount of the proposed civil
penalty. Not later than 30 days after
receipt of the notice of violation, the
person charged with a violation shall:

(1) Submit the amount of the pro-
posed civil penalty or an agreed-upon
amount, in which case either an order
assessing a civil penalty or a com-
promise order shall be issued in that
amount; or

(2) Submit to the agency attorney
identified in the material accompany-
ing the notice any of the following:

(i) Written information, including
documents and witness statements,
demonstrating that a violation of the
regulations did not occur or that a pen-
alty or the penalty amount is not war-
ranted by the circumstances; or

(ii) A written request to reduce the
proposed civil penalty, the amount of
reduction, and the reasons and any
documents supporting a reduction of
the proposed civil penalty, including
records indicating a financial inability
to pay or records showing that pay-
ment of the proposed civil penalty
would prevent the person from continu-
ing in business; or
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(iii) A written request for an infor-
mal conference to discuss the matter
with an agency attorney and submit
relevant information or documents; or

(3) Request a hearing in which case a
complaint shall be filed with the hear-
ing docket clerk.

(c) Final notice of violation and civil
penalty assessment order. A final notice
of violation and civil penalty assess-
ment order (‘‘final notice and order’’)
may be issued after participation in
any informal proceedings as provided
in paragraph (b)(2) of this section, or
after failure of the respondent to re-
spond in a timely manner to a notice of
violation. A final notice and order will
be sent to the individual charged with
a violation. The final notice and order
will contain a statement of the charges
and the amount of the proposed civil
penalty and, as a result of information
submitted to the agency attorney dur-
ing any informal procedures, may re-
flect a modified allegation or proposed
civil penalty.

A final notice and order may be
issued—

(1) If the person charged with a viola-
tion fails to respond to the notice of
violation within 30 days after receipt of
that notice; or

(2) If the parties participated in any
informal procedures under paragraph
(b)(2) of this section and the parties
have not agreed to compromise the ac-
tion or the agency attorney has not
agreed to withdraw the notice of viola-
tion.

(d) Order assessing civil penalty. An
order assessing civil penalty may be
issued after notice and opportunity for
a hearing. A person charged with a vio-
lation may be subject to an order as-
sessing civil penalty in the following
circumstances:

(1) An order assessing civil penalty
may be issued if a person charged with
a violation submits, or agrees to sub-
mit, the amount of civil penalty pro-
posed in the notice of violation.

(2) An order assessing civil penalty
may be issued if a person charged with
a violation submits, or agrees to sub-
mit, an agreed-upon amount of civil
penalty that is not reflected in either
the notice of violation or the final no-
tice and order.

(3) The final notice and order be-
comes (and contains a statement so in-
dicating) an order assessing a civil pen-
alty when the person charged with a
violation submits the amount of the
proposed civil penalty that is reflected
in the final notice and order.

(4) The final notice and order be-
comes (and contains a statement so in-
dicating) an order assessing a civil pen-
alty 16 days after receipt of the final
notice and order, unless not later than
15 days after receipt of the final notice
and order, the person charged with a
violation does one of the following—

(i) Submits an agreed-upon amount
of civil penalty that is not reflected in
the final notice and order, in which
case an order assessing civil penalty or
a compromise order shall be issued in
that amount; or

(ii) Requests a hearing in which case
a complaint shall be filed with the
hearing docket clerk.

(5) Unless an appeal is filed with the
FAA decisionmaker in a timely man-
ner, an initial decision or order of an
administrative law judge shall be con-
sidered an order assessing civil penalty
if an administrative law judge finds
that an alleged violation occurred and
determines that a civil penalty, in an
amount found to be appropriate by the
administrative law judge, is warranted.

(6) Unless a petition for review is
filed with a U.S. Court of Appeals in a
timely manner, a final decision and
order of the Administrator shall be
considered an order assessing civil pen-
alty if the FAA decisionmaker finds
that an alleged violation occurred and
a civil penalty is warranted.

[Doc. No. 27873, 61 FR 44155, Aug. 28, 1996]

Subpart D—Rules of Practice for
FAA Hearings

§ 13.31 Applicability.

This subpart applies to proceedings
in which a hearing has been requested
in accordance with §§ 13.19(c)(5),
13.20(c), 13.20(d), 13.75(a)(2), 13.75(b), or
13.81(e).

[Amdt. 13–18, 53 FR 34655, Sept. 7, 1988]
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